COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SCOTT B. OSBORNE, Personal Representative of the Estate of Barbara Hagyard Mesdag,

Respondent,

v.

THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

David M. Hankins, WSBA # 19194 Senior Counsel Charles Zalesky, WSBA # 37777 Assistant Attorney General Revenue Division, OID No. 91027 P.O. Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5528

I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves the Washington estate tax and whether "qualified terminable interest property" ("QTIP") included in the taxable estate of a decedent may be excluded in computing the Washington tax.

QTIP is a life estate set up to take advantage of the marital deduction allowed under federal estate tax law. When a spouse dies, his or her estate can create a QTIP trust that provides income to the surviving spouse for life. The assets contributed to the QTIP trust are deducted from the taxable estate of the spouse who made the election. I.R.C. § 2056(b)(7). However, upon the surviving spouse's death, the assets remaining in the QTIP trust are included in that spouse's taxable estate. I.R.C. § 2044.

The estate of Barbara Mesdag ("Estate") is seeking a refund of Washington estate tax it paid on the value of QTIP included in the Estate's federal taxable estate. The Estate asserts that QTIP is immune from the Washington tax under the holding in *Clemency v. State*, 175 Wn.2d 549, 290 P.3d 99 (2012) (hereinafter "*Bracken*" or "*In re Estate of Bracken*"). In *Bracken*, the Supreme Court held that the Legislature did not intend to tax QTIP passing under Internal Revenue Code § 2044. According to the Court, the Legislature intended to tax only "real" transfers of property. To achieve

¹ Carol B. Clemency was one of the personal representatives of the estate of Sharon M. Bracken. For consistency and simplicity, the Department will refer to the case as "*Bracken*" or "*In re Estate of Bracken*" rather than its reported case name.

the perceived intent of the Legislature, the Supreme Court modified the statutory definition of "Washington taxable estate" to "exclude items that are not [real] transfers." *Id.* at 570-71. The result was to exclude from the Washington estate tax the "deemed" transfer of QTIP occurring under Internal Revenue Code § 2044.

The Legislature promptly amended the estate tax code in response to the *Bracken* decision. Laws of 2013, 2d Spec. Sess., ch. 2.² That 2013 legislation (the "2013 Act") amended the definitions of "transfer" and "Washington taxable estate" to include QTIP in the Washington taxable estate of a decedent. *Id.* at § 2. The amended definitions are retroactive to "all estates of decedents dying on or after May 17, 2005." *Id.* at § 9.³ The amendment applies to the estate of Barbara Mesdag, who died in 2007.

As a result of the 2013 Act, *Bracken* is no longer controlling authority. *See Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys.*, 109 Wn.2d 107, 143-44, 744 P.2d 254, 750 P.2d 254 (1987) (the Legislature may pass a law that directly impacts a case pending in Washington courts). Instead, under the estate tax code as amended, QTIP is subject to the Washington

² A copy of the 2013 session law is attached as Appendix A.

³ May 17, 2005, is the effective date of the 2005 legislation that changed the Washington estate tax from a pick-up tax to a stand-alone tax. *See* Laws of 2005, ch. 516, § 22. Thus, section 2 of the 2013 Act was expressly made retroactive to the effective date of the Washington stand-alone estate tax.

tax and the Estate is not entitled to a refund of the Washington tax it paid on the value of QTIP included in its federal taxable estate.

Moreover, the 2013 Act was a valid exercise of the Legislature's authority to set the tax policy of this state and to enact laws to achieve that policy. *Haberman*, 109 Wn.2d at 143 ("A statute prescribing new rules to be applied to pending litigation is generally constitutional [and] does not violate the separation of powers clause"). Thus, this Court should reverse the order entered by the superior court granting the Estate's refund claim and remand the case with directions to enter a judgment in favor of the Department.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

In 2013 the Legislature amended the Washington estate tax code prospectively and retroactively to include QTIP passing under Internal Revenue Code § 2044 in the Washington taxable estate. That amendment applies to the estate of Barbara Mesdag. The order entered by the superior court granting the Estate's motion for judgment on the pleadings and ordering the Department to refund the tax the Estate paid on QTIP passing under Internal Revenue Code § 2044 was based on the prior law, not the current law. Consequently, the trial court erred in granting judgment on the pleadings to the Estate.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Under the Washington estate tax code as amended in 2013, is QTIP passing under Internal Revenue Code § 2044 and taxed under the federal estate tax code also subject to the Washington tax?
- 2. Was the retroactive application of the 2013 Act a valid exercise of legislative authority under the Due Process Clause and separation of powers principles when the exclusion of QTIP under the 2012 *Bracken* decision threatened to create a significant and unexpected loss of tax revenue used to fund education?
- 3. Should the Washington Supreme Court overrule *In re Estate of Bracken* when that decision applied a "real transfer" versus "deemed transfer" distinction that was inconsistent with the broad concept of "transfer" that the United States Supreme Court and the Washington Supreme Court had applied since the 1930s? 4

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Barbara Mesgdag, a widow whose spouse predeceased her in 2002, died on July 4, 2007, and was a resident of Washington at the time of her death. CP 8 at ¶¶ (6)D.1 and (6)D.2. Sometime thereafter the Estate filed a Washington estate tax return. AR 118. On that return, the Estate deducted

⁴ The Department recognizes that the Court of Appeals cannot overrule a decision of the Supreme Court and presents this third issue for the purpose of clearly preserving it for consideration by the Supreme Court if further review is necessary.

\$16,417,504.74 from the gross estate, which was the value of QTIP included in the Estate's federal taxable estate under Internal Revenue Code § 2044.

AR 118 at Part 2, line 2b. The Washington estate tax due as computed by the Estate after claiming the deduction was \$367,282.28. AR 118 at Part 2, line 9. The Estate remitted payment of that amount plus additional accrued interest. AR 117; AR 166.

The Department of Revenue ("Department") reviewed the Estate's Washington estate tax return and denied the \$16,417,504.74 deduction claimed by the Estate. AR 112. It sent a balance due notice to the Estate assessing additional tax and interest in the amount of \$3,103,161.82. *Id.*The Estate paid the assessed amount plus additional accrued interest and then filed an amended return claiming the same deduction that the Department had previously denied. AR 73 (copy of check remitting assessed tax and interest); AR 81 (amended return). The Department again denied the Estate's deduction of "§ 2044 property" and notified the Estate of this final agency action. AR 74.⁵ Thereafter the Estate filed a timely petition for judicial review under the Administrative Procedure Act ("APA"). CP 4.

In August 2010, the trial court entered an agreed order staying the case pending the final resolution of *In re Estate of Bracken*, Supreme

⁵ The Department granted the Estate's request for refund on an issue unrelated to the deduction of QTIP passing at the death of Ms. Mesdag under Internal Revenue Code § 2044. However, it denied the Estate's refund claim with respect to the QTIP issue.

Court case number 84114-4. CP 40. The Supreme Court issued its decision in *Bracken* on October 18, 2012, holding that the Legislature did not intend to impose estate tax on QTIP passing under Internal Revenue Code § 2044 at the death of the second spouse. *In re Estate of Bracken*, 175 Wn.2d 549, 290 P.3d 99 (2012). The Department filed a motion for reconsideration, which was denied on January 10, 2013.

On February 15, 2013, the Estate filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings asserting that, under the holding in *Bracken*, it was entitled to the refund of Washington estate tax it had claimed on its amended return. CP 42. The trial court granted the motion. CP 96.

The Department timely appealed the order granting the Estate's motion for judgment on the pleadings. CP 99. Shortly after the appeal was filed, the Legislature enacted Engrossed House Bill 2075. That bill, which the Governor signed on June 14, made several significant amendments to the Washington estate tax code. Two of the amendments are of primary importance in this case. First, section 2 of the 2013 Act amended the statutory definition of "transfer" to make clear that a transfer for purposes of the Washington tax is broadly defined and includes "any shifting upon death of the economic benefit in property or any power or legal privilege incidental to the ownership or enjoyment of property." Laws of 2013, 2d Spec. Sess., ch. 2, § 2 (amending and renumbering RCW 83.100.020(11)

(2012)). Second, section 2 also amended the definition of "Washington taxable estate" to make clear that QTIP is properly included in the Washington taxable estate of a Washington resident decedent and is subject to the Washington tax. *Id.* (amending and renumbering RCW 83.100.020(13) (2012)). These key amendments apply retroactively to estates of decedents dying on or after May 17, 2005. *Id.* at § 9.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard Of Review.

This is an appeal of agency action under the APA. The agency action at issue is the Department's denial of the Estate's refund claim. Judicial review of agency action is controlled by RCW 34.05.570. This case involves "other agency action," so RCW 34.05.570(4) applies. The Estate, as the party challenging the Department's agency action, bears the burden of demonstrating that the action is invalid. RCW 34.05.570(1)(a); Hillis v. Dep't of Ecology, 131 Wn.2d 373, 381, 932 P.2d 139 (1997). When reviewing "other agency action," a court shall grant relief only if it determines that the action violates constitutional provisions, the agency acted outside its legal authority, the action was arbitrary or capricious, or the action was taken by someone not lawfully entitled to take such action. RCW 34.05.570(4)(c).

Because no agency adjudicative proceeding was conducted, the superior court, as permitted under the APA, received evidence in addition to that contained in the agency record. *See* RCW 34.05.562(1)(c) (authorizing the reviewing court to receive evidence in addition to that contained in the agency record). *See also* CP 72, CP 86 (declarations filed with the superior court providing evidence in addition to that contained in the agency record). Consequently, this Court "review[s] the superior court record because [the superior court] took additional evidence under RCW 34.05.562." *Purse Seine Vessel Owners Assn' v. State*, 92 Wn. App. 381, 388, 966 P.2d 928 (1998) (citing *Waste Mgmt of Seattle, Inc. v. Util. & Transp. Comm'n*, 123 Wn.2d 621, 633-34, 869 P.2d 1034 (1994)).

The superior court decided this case on the Estate's motion for judgment on the pleadings. However, the Estate presented matters outside the pleadings to the superior court, CP 86, as did the Department. CP 72. Thus, the motion should have been "treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in rule 56." CR 12(c).

⁶ In addition, General Order 2010-1 does not apply in this appeal. That General Order pertains in relevant part to the review of appeals from an "administrative hearing decision, RCW 34.05.570." (Emphasis added). RCW 34.05.570 sets forth the standard of judicial review under the Administrative Procedure Act and refers to three types of agency action that may be reviewed. Specifically, RCW 34.05.570(2) pertains to judicial review of agency rulemaking, RCW 34.05.570(3) pertains to judicial review of agency orders in adjudicative proceedings, and RCW 34.05.570(4) pertains to judicial review of "other agency action." While the General Order does not refer specifically to RCW 34.05.570(3), the logical reading of that Order confirms that the appellate procedures required under that Order apply to the review of agency orders in adjudicative proceedings and not to the review of agency rulemaking or "other agency action."

Summary judgment is appropriate when no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56. When the material facts are undisputed and the only issues to be resolved are legal in nature, the appellate court reviews the legal conclusions de novo. *Simpson Inv. Co. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 141 Wn.2d 139, 148, 3 P.3d 741 (2000). The material facts of this case are not disputed. However, because the controlling law has changed, it is the Department that is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

B. Under The Washington Estate Tax Code As Amended In 2013, QTIP Passing Under Internal Revenue Code § 2044 And Taxed Under The Federal Estate Tax Code Is Subject To The Washington Tax.

1. Overview of the federal estate tax.

To better appreciate the legal arguments presented in this brief, it is helpful to have a general understanding of both the federal estate tax and the Washington estate tax. The federal estate tax is set out in subtitle B, chapter 11, of the Internal Revenue Code. The tax is "imposed on the transfer of the taxable estate of every decedent who is a citizen or resident of the United States." I.R.C. § 2001(a). The term "transfer" is construed broadly and "extends to the creation, exercise, acquisition, or relinquishment of any power or legal privilege which is incident to the

⁷ All references to the Internal Revenue Code will be to the Internal Revenue Code as amended as of January 1, 2005.

ownership of property." *Fernandez v. Wiener*, 326 U.S. 340, 352, 66 S. Ct. 178, 90 L. Ed. 116 (1945). Thus, a "transfer" for federal estate tax purposes is not limited to a formal conveyance of property under state property law. Rather, Congress may include within the estate tax base property that was not formally conveyed on the death of the decedent. *Id.*

The federal estate tax is computed on the "taxable estate" of the decedent. I.R.C. § 2001(b). In computing the taxable estate, a deduction is allowed under Internal Revenue Code § 2056 for "the value of any interest in property which passes or has passed from the decedent to his surviving spouse." I.R.C. § 2056(a). The deduction is limited by Internal Revenue Code § 2056(b), which provides that "terminable interests" in property—such as a life estate or other interest that will lapse due to the passing of time or the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event—do not qualify for the marital deduction.

As originally enacted, the marital deduction was limited to fifty percent of the decedent's separate property passing outright to the surviving spouse. Transfers of "terminable interest" property such as a life estate did not qualify. Although limited both in the amount that could be deducted and the type of property interest that qualified, the deduction provided an important estate planning tool for married couples. Separate

property passing outright to the surviving spouse, up to the fifty percent limitation, was excluded from the estate tax base of the first spouse to die.

In 1981 Congress significantly changed the marital deduction by making the deduction unlimited in amount and by creating a special category of terminable interest property—so-called "qualified terminable interest property"—that would qualify for the deduction. *See In re Estate of Bracken*, 175 Wn.2d at 577 n.4 (Madsen, C.J., concurring/dissenting) (quoting Boris I. Bittker & Lawrence Lokken, *Federal Taxation of Income, States and Gifts*, 1997 WL 440177 at *17). Thus, Congress created an "exception-to-the-exception" that permitted certain terminable interest property to pass untaxed to the surviving spouse.

In order for QTIP to qualify for the marital deduction, the property must pass from the decedent to the surviving spouse, the surviving spouse must have the right to receive the income from the property for life, and the executor of the decedent's estate must make an election to have the property treated as QTIP. I.R.C. § 2056(b)(7)(B)(i). While the estate of the first spouse to die gets to claim the deduction, any QTIP still remaining when the surviving spouse dies is included in his or her gross estate. I.R.C. § 2044. In this way, QTIP does not escape taxation entirely. Instead, the estate tax applies to the remaining QTIP that passes when the surviving spouse dies. I.R.C. § 2044(c).

2. Overview of the Washington estate tax.

The Washington estate tax was enacted in 1981 as a result of Initiative No. 402. Laws of 1981, 2d Ex. Sess., ch. 7. Prior to that, Washington imposed an inheritance tax. Laws of 1901, ch. 55. The Washington estate tax, as enacted in 1981, imposed a tax equal to the state death tax credit allowed under Internal Revenue Code § 2011. State estate taxes of this nature are commonly referred to as "pick-up" taxes.

In June 2001, Congress enacted the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001 (EGTRRA).⁸ That act reduced the amount of the state death tax credit by 25% each year beginning in 2002, resulting in the total elimination of the credit by 2005. This reduction and eventual elimination of the state death tax credit had a serious impact on states like Washington that employed a pick-up tax. *See Estate of Hemphill v. Dep't of Revenue*, 153 Wn.2d 544, 548, 105 P.3d 391 (2005) ("EGTRRA essentially ends the estate tax revenue sharing between the federal government and states."). To keep the Washington tax viable, the Legislature needed to establish a "stand-alone" tax that was not dependent on the federal death tax credit mechanism. *Id.* at 551. The Legislature accomplished this in 2005 when it amended the Washington estate tax to change from a pick-up tax to a stand-alone tax. *See* Laws of 2005, ch. 516.

⁸ Pub. L. No. 107-16, 115 Stat. 73 (2001).

As amended in 2005, the Washington tax is imposed "on every transfer of property located in Washington." RCW 83.100.040(1) (2012). "Property" is defined as "property included in the gross estate." RCW 83.100.020(8) (2012). Gross estate, in turn, is defined as "gross estate' as defined and used in section 2031 of the Internal Revenue Code." RCW 83.100.020(5) (2012). Thus, while the 2005 Act established a stand-alone estate tax, the tax was still tied to a large extent to the federal estate tax code. *See In re Estate of Bracken*, 175 Wn.2d at 581 (Madsen, C.J., concurring/ dissenting).

The tax is computed at a graduated rate on the value of a decedent's "Washington taxable estate." Laws of 2013, 2d Spec. Sess., ch. 2, § 4 (amending RCW 83.100.040(2)(a)). The term "Washington taxable estate" is defined as "the federal taxable estate" less specified additions and deductions. *Id.* at § 2 (amending and renumbering RCW 83.100.020(13) (2012)). "Federal taxable estate," in turn, is defined as "the taxable estate as determined under chapter 11 of the Internal Revenue Code" without regard to the termination of the federal estate tax or the deduction for state death taxes. RCW 83.100.020(14) (2012). "By starting with federal taxable estate, the [2005 Act] avoided having to duplicate congressional effort involved in explaining all the possible inclusions, exemptions, and deductions necessary to reach the taxable estate, and also helped to avoid

the complication and confusion that a different set of state rules might create." *In re Estate of Bracken*, 175 Wn.2d at 583 (Madsen, C.J., concurring/ dissenting).

As with the federal estate tax, the Washington estate tax is imposed on the *transfer* of property. Under the Washington estate tax code, "transfer" means a "transfer' as used in section 2001 of the Internal Revenue Code and includes any shifting upon death of the economic benefit in property or any power or legal privilege incidental to the ownership or enjoyment of property." Laws of 2013, 2d Spec. Sess., ch. 2, § 2 (amending and renumbering RCW 83.100.020(11) (2012)). Thus, the Legislature has clearly established that a "transfer" under the Washington estate tax code is not limited to formal conveyances of property owned by the decedent. Rather, the Washington tax—like its federal counterpart—extends to the "creation, exercise, acquisition, or relinquishment of any power or legal privilege which is incident to the ownership of property." *Wiener*, 326 U.S. at 352.

3. Bracken is no longer controlling authority.

Prior to the 2013 amendment to the Washington estate tax, the tax as construed by the Supreme Court in *Bracken* was limited to only "real" transfers of property occurring at death. *In re Estate of Bracken*, 175 Wn.2d at 570-71. *Bracken* involved whether QTIP passing under Internal

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