No. 44766-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II,
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SCOTT B. OSBORNE, Personal Representative of
the Estate of Barbara Hagyard Mesdag,

Respondent,

v.


THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE OF
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Mark W. Roberts, WSBA #16843
Robert B. Mitchell, WSBA #10874
Peter A. Talevich, WSBA #42644
Attorneys for Respondent
Scott B. Osborne

K&L GATES LLP
925 Fourth Avenue
Suite 2900
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 623-7580

ORIGINAL

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
2013 SEP 17 AM 11:07
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY  DEPUTY

P/m 9/17/13

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

ARGUMENT

A. *Bracken* governs this case.

The Department concedes, as it must, that there is no material difference between the facts of this case and those considered in *Bracken*. As in *Bracken*, a taxpayer (here, Joseph) created a marital deduction (QTIP) trust several years before the standalone Washington estate tax was enacted.³ The trust provided a life estate for his surviving spouse and qualified for the marital deduction, which meant that federal estate tax was deferred. When the surviving spouse died, the assets in the trust went to the remainder beneficiaries, exactly as the person who set up the trust had directed. The question presented is whether the fact that the marital deduction trust qualified for a federal tax deferral and the surviving spouse died after May 17, 2005, means that the trust assets – unlike the assets in all other trusts established before May 17, 2005 – are subject to Washington estate tax. The answer is no.

³ The QTIP provisions have been a part of federal estate tax law since 1981. See *Eisenbach v. Schneider*, 140 Wn. App. 641, 652-53, 166 P.3d 858 (2007).

Bracken rests on two straightforward propositions: first, that the Washington estate tax is a tax on transfers by the decedent; and second, that the standalone estate tax applies prospectively – i.e., to persons dying on or after May 17, 2005. From these two propositions the Court’s conclusion follows directly: Washington estate tax does not apply to the assets in marital deduction trusts created before May 17, 2005, because the transfer of those assets occurred before the Washington estate tax was established.

The *Bracken* Court held, in a section entitled “*Transfer Taxation Requires a Transfer*,” that only “a transfer – a real transfer – is the sanction for the [estate] tax.” 175 Wn.2d at 566. “The requirement for a transfer is constitutionally grounded and long standing.” *Id.* at 564. Its source is the fundamental distinction between an excise tax and a property tax. An excise tax “is levied upon the use or transfer of property . . . ,” whereas a tax “levied upon the property itself” or the income derived from property is a direct tax. *Id.* “If estate taxation cannot be tied to a transfer, it fails as an unapportioned (and therefore unconstitutional) direct tax.” *Id.* at 565 (citing *Levy v. Wardell*, 258 U.S. 542, 42 S. Ct. 395, 66 L. Ed. 758 (1922)).

Bracken held further that QTIP is transferred by the electing spouse, not the surviving spouse. *Id.* at 566. The court stated:

Barbara Nelson, Sharon Bracken, and [their] Estates never transferred, in any manner, the QTIP that passed to the residuary beneficiaries of the QTIP trust. Property is transferred from a trustor when a trust is created, not when an income interest in the trust expires. . . . QTIP does not actually pass to or from the surviving spouse.

Id. (citations omitted). Barbara Mesdag is in precisely the same position as Barbara Nelson and Sharon Bracken. She did not transfer, in any manner, the QTIP in the marital deduction trust that had been set up by Joseph. That transfer occurred in 2002. The assets of **his** marital deduction trust are not taxable in **her** estate.

B. EHB 2075 does not change the result required by *Bracken*.

The Department proposed, and the Legislature approved, changes in two definitional provisions that, the Department asserts, change the outcome in *Bracken*. The Department ignores that *Bracken*'s holding is based upon constitutional requirements that may not be circumvented by legislative tinkering. Even if this fundamental flaw in EHB 2075 is ignored, its definitional changes do not alter the outcome in this case.

EHB 2075 modified the definition of "transfer" to encompass "any shifting upon death of the economic benefit in property or any power or legal privilege incidental to the ownership or enjoyment of property." Laws of 2013, 2d Spec. Sess., ch 2, § 2. The new language adds nothing of substance to the existing language, which defines "transfer" for

purposes of the Washington estate tax as “‘transfer’ as used in section 2001 of the Internal Revenue Code.” RCW 83.100.020(11). It has long been the law that the power of the federal government to impose death taxes “extends to the creation, exercise, acquisition, or relinquishment of any power or legal privilege which is incident to the ownership of property . . . occasioned by death[.]” *Fernandez v. Wiener*, 326 U.S. 340, 352, 66 S. Ct. 178, 90 L. Ed. 116 (1945). *Bracken* says this explicitly.⁴ The Supreme Court’s rejection of the Department’s position in *Bracken* was not based upon a more restrictive reading of “transfer” but rather upon the Court’s determination that the person making the transfer was the person setting up the trust – here, Joseph – and not the surviving spouse, who never owned the trust property. Barbara was not the transferor of Joseph’s trust assets no matter how broadly “transfer” is defined.⁵

⁴ “*Fernandez v. Wiener*, 326 U.S. 340, 352, 66 S. Ct. 178, 90 L. Ed. 116 (1945) recognizes that Congress may tax real estate or personal property ‘if the tax is apportioned’ and, absent apportionment, may tax ‘a particular use or enjoyment of property or the shifting from one to another of any power or privilege incidental to the ownership or enjoyment of property.’” *Bracken*, 175 Wn.2d at 565.

⁵ If a dotting uncle were to designate Mary as the income beneficiary of his trust for two years, after which her sister Susan would become the remainder beneficiary, Mary would not be transferring anything to Susan when the calendar rolled around to the second anniversary of the trust’s creation. The same thing is true if Mary had a life estate and died.

Even if the critical question of **who** made the transfer could be ignored, the question of **when** it occurred looms just as large. Contrary to the Department's apparent claim, property interests do not shift when a lifetime beneficiary dies. That person's life estate and the interests of the remainder beneficiaries were fixed when the trust was established. *See, e.g., In re Estate of Smith*, 40 Wn. App. 790, 796, 797, 700 P.2d 1181 (1985) (remainder beneficiary of testamentary trust granting life estate to testatrix's brother possessed "an indefeasibly vested remainder in the trust," which "vested indefeasibly upon [testatrix's] death"); *Edwards v. Edwards*, 1 Wn. App. 67, 70-71, 459 P.2d 422 (1969) (testatrix created valid testamentary trust by providing life estate with remainder in trust for beneficiaries, as "testatrix created a life estate and a future interest denominated a vested remainder, both interests of which came into being at the time of her death").⁶

The second definitional change in EHB 2075, amending the definition of "Washington taxable estate," does not alter the outcome in this case, either. As before, the Washington taxable estate starts with the

⁶ There can be no credible claim that "transfer" means the mere receipt of property by a remainder beneficiary upon the death of the holder of a life estate. A transfer requires a transferor as well as a transferee.

federal taxable estate, which, the amended statute now says, “includes, but is not limited to, the value of any property included in the gross estate under section 2044 of the internal revenue code, regardless of whether the decedent’s interest in such property was acquired before May 17, 2005.” Laws of 2013, 2d Spec. Sess., ch 2, § 2. This new language changes nothing: the federal taxable estate has, since 1981, included section 2044 property. The amendment goes on to specify adjustments in the federal taxable estate, among them subtraction of “(iii) amounts allowed to be deducted from the Washington taxable estate under RCW 83.100.047.” And RCW 83.100.047 provides for a deduction of section 2044 property in the circumstances present here.

Section 5 of EHB 2075 added RCW 83.100.047(3), which provides as follows:

(3) Notwithstanding any department rule, if a taxpayer makes an election consistent with section 2056 of the internal revenue code as permitted under this section, the taxpayer’s Washington taxable estate and the surviving spouse’s Washington taxable estate, must be adjusted as follows:

(a) For the taxpayer that made the election

(b) For the estate of the surviving spouse, the amount included in the estate’s gross estate pursuant to section 2044(a) and (b)(1)(A) of the internal revenue code is deducted from, and the value of any property for which an election under this section was previously made is added to, the Washington taxable estate.

Joseph is a “taxpayer” for purposes of this subsection: A “taxpayer” is defined in RCW 83.100.020(10) as “a person upon whom tax is imposed under [chapter 83.100 RCW],” and Joseph paid tax under chapter 83.100 RCW. See AR 46. Joseph also made an election consistent with section 2056. AR 31. Barbara is a surviving spouse. Amounts included in her gross estate under section 2044 are therefore to be deducted from the Washington taxable estate under subsection (3)(b). The outcome is the same as that required under the 2006 regulations and that reached by the Supreme Court in *Bracken*. See 175 Wn.2d at 560-61; *id.* at 588-89 (Madsen, C.J., concurring and dissenting).

The Department fails to explain how the two definitional changes in EHB 2075 alter the result in *Bracken* or how they apply to Barbara’s estate. The two definitions do not affect the bases for the decision in *Bracken* – namely, the Washington estate tax applies only to transfers, and the Washington estate tax applies prospectively to transfers occurring after May 17, 2005.⁷ As the *Bracken* Court held, the only transfer occasioned by a marital deduction trust occurs when the trust is established; there is no transfer when a lifetime beneficiary dies.

⁷ Section 9 of EHB 2075 states that Sections 2 and 5 of the bill “apply both prospectively and retroactively to all estates of decedents dying on or

The Legislature may have thought that it was doing something else when it adopted EHB 2075, but this Court must apply the language that the Legislature chose. A court may not ““add language to an unambiguous statute even if it believes the Legislature intended something else but did not adequately express it.”” *Cerrillo v. Esparza*, 158 Wn.2d 194, 201, 142 P.3d 155 (2006) (quoting *Kilian v. Adkinson*, 147 Wn.2d 16, 20, 50 P.3d 638 (2002)).

The Supreme Court observed in *Bracken* that a “tax statute must be construed most strongly against the taxing power and in favor of the taxpayer.” 176 Wn.2d at 563 (internal quotations and citations omitted). Furthermore, the Legislature is ““presumed to have intended a meaning consistent with the constitutionality of its enactment.”” *Id.* (quoting *State ex rel. Dawes v. Wash. State Highway Comm’n*, 63 Wn.2d 34, 38, 385 P.2d 376 (1963)). As the next section will demonstrate, construing EHB 2075 as the Department urges would render that act unconstitutional.

C. If it would change the result in this case, EHB 2075 is unconstitutional as applied.

If this Court reaches the constitutionality of EHB 2075, it must conclude that the statute as applied here violates both the state and federal

after May 17, 2005.” EHB 2075 does not purport to apply to the estate of taxpayers such as Joseph who died before 2005.

constitutions.⁸ An as-applied challenge “occurs where a plaintiff contends that a statute’s application in the context of the plaintiff’s actions or proposed actions is unconstitutional.” *Lummi Indian Nation v. State*, 170 Wn.2d 247, 258, 241 P.3d 1220 (2010) (quoting *Wash. State Republican Party v. Pub. Disclosure Comm’n*, 141 Wn.2d 245, 282 n.14, 4 P.3d 808 (2000)). A statute held unconstitutional as applied in a particular case “cannot be applied in the future in a similar context, but it is not rendered completely inoperative.” *Id.* (quoting *Wash. State Republican Party*, 141 Wn.2d at 282 n.14).⁹

As read by the Department, EHB 2075 cannot constitutionally be applied to Barbara’s estate because it violates (i) constitutional limits upon imposition of an excise tax, (ii) the separation of powers doctrine, (iii) due process, (iv) the impairment clauses, and (v) equal protections.

1. EHB 2075 purports to apply an excise tax to a fictional transfer, but only real transfers may be taxed.

If EHB 2075 actually brings the assets of Joseph’s marital trust within the scope of the Washington estate tax as applied to Barbara’s estate, it does so by (a) untethering the statutory definition of “transfer”

⁸ Courts ordinarily will decline to address constitutional issues if a case can be resolved on statutory grounds. *See Tesoro Ref. & Mktg. Co. v. Dep’t of Revenue*, 173 Wn.2d 551, 559 n.3, 269 P.3d 1013 (2012).

⁹ A facial challenge would require a holding (not necessary here) that the challenged provision cannot be constitutionally applied in any circumstance. *See Lummi Indian Nation*, 170 Wn.2d at 258.

from the constitutionally required meaning of that term, (b) imposing the estate tax directly upon property without any transfer, or (c) both.

The Department fails to heed what may be the most pointed sentence in *Bracken*:

Faced with arguments by the Estates and amicus that DOR is attempting to tax something other than a transfer, DOR too readily concludes that a fictional or deemed transfer is something that Congress or the legislature can substitute for an actual transfer.

175 Wn.2d at 566. Without “a real transfer,” the Court continues, there is no constitutional authority for the tax. *Id.* No legislative alchemy can turn fiction into reality. And this was clear long before the Court’s decision in *Bracken*.

In 1935 the Legislature enacted a law providing that “[i]nsurance payable upon the death of any person shall be deemed a part of the estate for the purpose of computing the inheritance tax” Chapter 180, Laws of 1935, Section 115, p. 784, quoted in *In re McGrath’s Estate*, 191 Wash. 496, 498, 71 P.2d 395 (1937), *cert. denied*, 303 U.S. 651 (1938). William McGrath, president of the McGrath Candy Company, had eight life insurance policies in force when he died. Three named McGrath Candy Company as the beneficiary. One of the three had been taken out by McGrath himself, and he reserved the right to change the beneficiary. *See id.* at 501. The other two had been taken out by McGrath Candy

Company, which paid all of the premiums and had sole power to designate the beneficiary. *See id.* at 501-02. The trial court held that these two policies lay outside the State's lawful taxing authority, and the Washington Supreme Court agreed.

The Supreme Court observed that an estate tax is "a charge made in exchange for permission to a decedent to pass title to his heirs or legatees." *Id.* at 502-03. It is "impossible for an estate or inheritance tax to be exacted with respect to something in which the decedent did not own or have some kind of right at the time of his death, for in such a case there is no transfer." *Id.* at 503. The rule is that "an estate tax cannot be collected with respect to property unless some right in it be transferred by the death of the decedent." *Id.* With respect to the policies taken out by McGrath Candy Company, as to which the beneficiary corporation retained complete control without Mr. McGrath's consent, the Court observed: "The death of McGrath added nothing to the company's right to the proceeds of the policies, for the right was from the beginning complete and indefeasible." *Id.* at 504.

What was true in *McGrath* is no less true here. The rights of the remainder beneficiaries vested at the time that Joseph's trust was created, and those rights were complete and indefeasible. *E.g., Estate of Smith*, 40 Wn. App. at 797; *In re Verchot's Estate*, 4 Wn.2d 574, 582, 104 P.2d 490

(1940); see also *Black's Law Dictionary*, “Vested Remainder” (9th ed. 2009) (“A remainder that is given to an ascertained person and that is not subject to a condition precedent. **An example is ‘to A for life, and then to B.’**”) (emphasis added). Barbara had no power to alter the beneficiaries’ rights. On the contrary, “[t]he assets in the QTIP trust could have been left to any recipient of [Joseph’s] choosing, and neither [Barbara] nor the estate had any control over their ultimate disposition.” *Estate of Bonner v. United States*, 84 F.3d 196, 198 (5th Cir. 1996) (per curiam).

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